In the supreme court of the spate of mississippi

Comparation of the control of the co

ELED

CAUGILIA ESTROLISTA (16) DAYS COMMERTA VON NOVER MINIS

NO: 189210035 (CC500678)

લ્લામાં (<mark>લાં પ્રસ્તાર માં તેના સામાન માના સ્ટાપન (</mark>હાં

APPElines

APPRAL PROM THE GHANGERY COURT OF HAVE ON COUNTY MUSEUSSURPE SELCOND ATTOMOTOM BY STREET TOATER NO. 2402.03-0824

BRIER OF ATTENTION

Oral Argument Not Requested

DAVE SCOTT, ESQUIRE
MSB NO.
POST OFFICE BOX 1033
JACKSON, MS 39215-1033
TELEPHONE: (601) 923-7412
FACSIMILE: (601) 923-7423
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether the chancellor erred in holding that the work that Eco Resources, Inc., performed under contracts with five Mississippi cities from July of 1996 through August of 1999 to repair and maintain water systems and sewer systems were not subject to the 3.5% contractor's tax provided at Mississippi Code Annotated Section 27-65-21 (Rev. 2005) on the basis that water and sewer systems were exempt personal property.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal on a tax issue brought by the Mississippi State Tax Commission (MSTC) from an adverse ruling issued by the Harrison County Chancery Court, Second Judicial District, involving the application of the contractor's tax codified at Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-65-21. Eco Resources, Inc., (Eco) is a company based in Sugarland, Texas, that contracted with five cities in Mississippi to provide operations, management, repair and maintenance services for water and sewer facilities and systems. In October of 1999, MSTC began a sales tax audit to determine Eco's compliance with the contractor's tax provided for at Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-65-21 (Rev. 2005). The contractor's tax is a 3.5% rate, and it is codified in the chapter of the code under the sales tax provisions, title 27, chapter 65 of the Mississippi Code. The subject of the audit was contract fees received by Eco through its agreement with five Mississippi cities, the same being Biloxi, D'Iberville, Horn Lake, Southaven, and Olive Branch. The period of the audit on all five contracts was July 1, 1996 through August 31, 1999.

MSTC auditor Dorothy Cooper submitted an audit report on Eco determining 70% of the base contract fees were taxable and subject to the 3.5% contractor's tax. R.E. 81-103. As it will be explained subsequently in more detail, when the 70% assessment was issued in June of 2000 on the five projects, this resulted in a tax bill of \$407,974.00, including tax, penalty, and interest. Eco appealed the auditor's assessment to the MSTC Board of Review which is an inter-agency intermediate level of review within the MSTC as provided for in Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-65-45 (Rev. 2005) (repealed 2005 and re-codified at Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-77-5 (Rev. 2005)). The Board of Review affirmed the tax as presented by the auditor. Eco then appealed to the full three-member Commission of the MSTC where a hearing was held on March 28, 2001. See Miss. Code Ann. § 27-77-5(4)(Rev. 2005)(formerly codified

at § 27-65-45). Approximately six months later on October 3, 2001, the Commission issued its final orders on the five contracts wherein the total tax, penalty, and interest was reduced to \$394,972.00. The Commission's final orders reduced the percentage of the contract fees subject to the contractor's tax from 70% to 59%. R.E. 43-52. In October of 2001, Eco paid the tax, penalty and interest in the amount of \$394,972.00. Eco waited two years and then sued the Tax Commission in the Harrison County Chancery Court in September of 2003 for a refund of the tax paid as provided in Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-65-47 (repealed 2005 and recodified at Mississippi Code Annotated § 27-77-7 (Rev. 2005)).

A bench trial was held before the chancellor on Eco's refund action on January 10, 2005. On January 30, 2006, the lower court issued findings of fact and conclusions of law finding that Eco was not subject to the contractor's tax on the basis that the company was contracted to perform services on tax exempt personal property. To like effect, a judgment in Eco's favor followed on March 23, 2006. Aggrieved the decision in the court below, MSTC has now appealed to the state supreme court asserting error in the application of law by the Harrison County Chancery Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Some examples of the services provided by Eco under the contracts with the five cities to maintain and operate the water and sewer systems included the following: installed water meters; performed meter disconnects and reconnects; repaired water line breaks; marked water line and sewer line paths; repaired sewer line breaks; inspected and repaired water well pumps; repaired and installed water line valves; and, checked lift stations in the sewer system for proper operation. R.E. 78. Additionally, Eco performed other services not directly related to the actual maintenance and repair of the water and sewer system infrastructure. These other services are not taxable and have never been in dispute with the parties as nontaxable activities.

Examples of these nontaxable other services included customer billings, customer account collections, water sampling for testing purposes, and lawn and grounds maintenance. R.E. 78. MSTC has never contended that these functions were taxable under the statutory directive of the contractor's tax, Mississippi Code Annotated Section 27-65-21.

As for taxable functions under the contractor's tax at Section 27-65-21 for repair and maintenance of water and sewer systems, MSTC's auditor Dorothy Cooper determined early on in the audit process that Eco paid no contractor's tax on any portion of the labor performed by the company under these contracts. Tr. at 138-39; R.E. at 82. In fact, the only tax Eco paid was a nominal amount on the materials used by the company for repair and maintenance. Tr. at 138; R.E. at 82. For all purposes, Eco ignored the labor component of the contracts.

Initially, the auditor calculated that 70% of Eco's employees did work directly related to the construction, repair, or maintenance of the water and sewer systems serviced by Eco. Therefore, her initial approach in the audit was to assess 70% of the base contract fees as subject to the 3.5% contractor's tax. In arriving at the 70% calculation, Ms. Cooper used the number of Eco employees and their corresponding job titles in determining that 70% of the employees performed work related to construction, repair, and maintenance aspects of the water and sewer systems. Tr. at 141-42; R.E. at 82. Additionally, in a prior audit of Eco covering earlier years, Eco was instructed by the Tax Commission to pay contractor's tax on 70% of contract fees. Eco ignored this directive. Tr. at 141; R.E. at 82.

When the 70% amount was presented by Eco, the company rejected this approach. As stated above, this audit involved five contracts covering an audit period from July 1, 1996 through August 31, 1999. When Eco balked at the 70% amount, *Eco proposed and MSTC accepted* Eco's proposal that the representative sample for the audit period should be the work performed on the Biloxi contract for calendar year 1999. R.E. at 18-27. According to Eco, the

company had solid, substantive and complete documentation that accounted for all hours worked on the Biloxi contract for 1999. Tr. at 146-47; R.E. 18-27. The company then provided MSTC's auditor with complete documentation of the hours worked in Biloxi for 1999. Tr. at 146-47; R.E. at 21-27. This additional documentation that Eco supplied for Biloxi in 1999 yielded an accurate, representative sample of the actual labor activity, time worked, and job functions that Eco performed to earn its fees.

The task descriptions and associated hours for Biloxi in 1999 were provided by Eco's attorney to MSTC's auditor. Using labor task descriptions provided by Eco that explained the work that was performed as well as the total hours required to perform the tasks, Eco proposed that 8,302 labor hours were subject to the contractor's tax under § 27-65-21. R.E. at 26. The list of tasks and associated task descriptions are contained in Trial Exhibit 40 as an attachment to an April 17, 2000 letter from Mr. James Pettis to Ms. Cooper. Record at 94-103; R.E. at 18-27. Ms. Cooper reviewed the 8,302 hours that Eco itself had labeled as "construction related" and proposed as taxable (R.E. at 25-26), along with almost four additional pages of repair and maintenance work descriptions that Eco supplied (R.E. at 22-25). After reviewing the additional 21,145 labor hours and work descriptions provided by Eco in Exhibit 40 (R.E. at 22-25), Ms. Cooper determined that an additional 14,156 hours were taxable, eliminating 6,989 hours as nontaxable hours. Tr. at 151-53; R.E. 28-30). The additional 14,156 labor hours that Ms. Cooper identified as taxable are contained in Trial Exhibit 21 as part of her work papers. R.E. 28-30. To identity these additional 14,156 labor hours as taxable functions, Ms. Cooper used the work descriptions of the tasks that Eco provided. The descriptions that she captured as taxable included repair, maintenance, and construction related activities. Examples of these additional taxable hours included tasks such as: repaired backflow preventor; cleaned sanitary line; replaced chlorine line; repaired generator; performed preventive maintenance; replaced

meter broken glass; marked utility lines; replaced valve box and lid; flushed blow off valve; reinstalled motor; pulled booster pump for repairs; repaired CL2 detector; installed clean out cap; adjusted meter upright; reinstalled new meter; winterized facility; inspected fire hydrants; painted at lift station; operated press belt; replaced packing in pumps; greased and excised hydrant; set meter box to grade level; and, reset caps on hydrants, to name a few. R.E. at 28-30. Items that were excluded as nontaxable included hours associated with customer account operations that were not germane to repair and maintenance functions. These included water turn on, water turn offs, tagging meters, meter reading, and building inspections. She also excluded hours associated with dye testing, checking for houseline leaks, resetting breaker switches, checking control panels, locating manholes, and cleaning up the work area, to name a few. R.E. at 22-25; 28-30.

In addition to these labor hours documented by specific tasks, Ms. Cooper added as taxable the hours that were devoted to inspection of the water wells and the sewer lift stations by Eco's employees. Tr. at 157-58. The inspection hours totaled 40,468.5 and were provided by Eco. Tr. 157-58; R.E. at 19. The inspection hours consisted of checking the water and sewer system pumps, wells, and lift stations, to ensure their proper operation. Eco also provided Ms. Cooper with documentation that an additional 10,920 hours were devoted to the Biloxi contract by salaried office personnel. R.E. at 27. This reflected office overhead hours required by Eco to fulfill their obligations under the contract. Of the 10,920 overhead hours, Ms. Cooper excluded 4,368 hours as nontaxable for hours submitted on behalf of the office manager and the billing and collection supervisor. However, Ms. Cooper included as taxable 6552 overhead hours reported for the operations manager, contract manager, and safety coordinator since these hours were essential to the performance of taxable repair and maintenance functions under the contract. Tr. at 154-55; R.E. at 31.

As an attachment to Trial Exhibit 1, which is the audit report for the City of Biloxi contract, Ms. Cooper included a calculation worksheet describing her calculation of taxable hours. R.E. at 31. When taxable hours (69,478) are divided by total contract hours both taxable and nontaxable (69,478 + 11,357) this yielded a percentage of almost 86% of the total contract fees subject to the contractor's tax. R.E. at 31.

Since the 86% amount was higher than the amount of tax previously calculated by Ms. Cooper at 70% using job descriptions, Ms. Cooper testified that to accommodate the taxpayer in all interests of fairness, she did not increase the assessment to 86%. Tr. at 160-61. Further, Eco had previously been instructed to pay the tax on 70% of contract fees. Tr. at 141; R.E. at 82. Therefore, she allowed the assessment to remain at 70% of contract fees. As noted in the statement of the case, Eco appealed to MSTC's Board of Review which affirmed Ms. Cooper's 70% assessment. Thereafter, Eco appealed under § 27-65-45² to the full three-member State Tax Commission where a hearing on Eco's appeal was held on March 28, 2001. Following the full Commission hearing, the MSTC amended its assessment of tax as submitted by Ms. Cooper by reducing the taxable percentage of the contracts from 70% to 59%. R.E. at 43-52.

At the trial of this matter held on January 10, 2005, MSTC's Director of its Sales and Use Tax Division, Ms. Meg Bartlett, testified about the reduction explaining the steps that the Commission took to reduce the assessment. The contractor's tax imposed by § 27-65-21 exempts from taxation compensation received for construction or repairs to any building or

¹ The trial court deemed it significant for reasons not apparent that Ms. Cooper, "utilizing solely the information provided to her by Eco . . . and conducting no other independent inquiry, determined that the correct taxable percentage was 86%." R.E. at 11. The trial court's use of "solely" and "no other independent inquiry" is somewhat bizarre. When a tax auditor audits a taxpayer, judicial notice could be taken that the information the auditor uses for an assessment would primarily and oftentimes exclusively come from the taxpayer itself. Later in the same paragraph the trial court dwells on the fact that Ms. Cooper included some of the inspection hours that could have been attributed to Eco services that ultimately benefited residential customers. Why the trial court selected this language for emphasis is not apparent or explained since it is not factually relevant based on the amendments that the full commission made to the assessments when the percentage was reduced to 59%. ² Repealed, and re-codified at *Miss. Code Ann.* § 27-77-5 (Rev. 2005).

structure used primarily in connection with a residence or dwelling place for human beings. *Miss. Code Ann.* § 27-65-21(1)(b)(ii) (Rev. 2005). In an attempt to apply this exclusion for the maximum benefit of Eco, the Commission began the process of eliminating from taxable hours the repair, maintenance, and construction hours that *could have related* to points of service associated with residential buildings. Tr. at 250-53. Pursuant to Tax Commission policy, if a repair or maintenance activity occurred between a meter box and a residential dwelling, such activity would be considered residential and therefore exempt from the contractor's tax. Repair and maintenance activity occurring from the meter back to the main water lines, pumps, valves, wells, etc., would be considered part of the water system infrastructure and therefore taxable under § 27-65-21. Tr. at 250-53. It also follows that repair and maintenance work that occurred between a meter box and a building used for commercial or business purposes would not be entitled to the residential exclusion. Section 27-65-21 provides no comparable exclusion for work related to commercial/business purposes.

According to Eco, the commercial to residential customer account mix in Biloxi was 80% residential and 20% commercial. Tr. 251-52. Therefore, Ms. Bartlett testified that using the descriptions of tasks and hours worked as provided by Eco, she reviewed the work papers³ prepared by Ms. Cooper and identified repairs and maintenance that could have occurred between a meter and a building. Tr. at 251. For the work descriptions that could have related to specific metered accounts, the Commission eliminated 80% of these as nontaxable hours. Examples of these hours included items such as, "reinstalled new meter," "set meter box to level grade," "replaced meter," "moved meter," or, "checked meter for correct operation." Tr. at 250-53. R.E. at 32-33. The net effect of eliminating the hours that could have related to

³ Trial Exhibit 21; R.E. at 28-30.

residential purposes was a reduction in repair and maintenance hours by 692 hours, from 14,156 down to 13,464.

The Commission also cut the inspection hours that Eco provided to Ms. Cooper. Specifically, the Commission eliminated inspection hours that did *not* directly result in the need for a repair or maintenance activity. Conversely, only the inspection hours that led to a repair job were captured as taxable. Tr. at 257-60. This resulted in a substantial reduction of 18,615.5 hours, from 40,468.5 hours down to 21,853 taxable hours. R.E. at 34. As Ms. Bartlett explained in her testimony, she calculated that 54% of inspections led to repair and maintenance work. Fifty-four percent was the result of dividing all repair and maintenance hours (21,765.5) by total inspection hours (40,468.5), thus reducing the taxable inspection hours to 21,853. Tr. at 257-58; R.E. at 34.

The Commission took further steps to ensure that its percentage of taxable contract fees was not inflated to the detriment of the taxpayer. The Commission also cut the salaried, overhead hours that Ms. Cooper used in her computations. Taking the hours for the operations manager, the contract manager, and the safety coordinator as provided by Eco's attorney to Ms. Cooper, the Commission allocated only a portion of these hours as taxable and exclude the rest. Tr. at 256-57. This allocation was achieved by apportioning the overhead hours related to taxable repair/maintenance hours and taxable inspection hours in relation to total hours worked by hourly employees.⁴ Tr. 256-57. This yielded an apportionment of 62% of overhead hours related to the repair/maintenance and inspection functions of the contract while excluding 38% of the overhead hours. R.E. at 34. This resulted in reducing taxable overhead hours to 1363

⁴The allocation is computed by dividing taxable repair and maintenance hours and taxable inspection hours (8301.5 + 13,464 + 21,853 = 43,618.5) by the total of all hours worked by hourly employees as per Eco (69,915), yielding a 62% allocation from overhead to the taxable tasks performed under the contract. R.E. at 34.

each for the operations, contract, and safety managers, a total reduction of 2463 overhead hours. R.E. at 34.

After the Commission reduced the repair and maintenance hours that could have been related to residential tasks (692); reduced the inspection hours to only those that resulted in the need for a repair or maintenance (18,615.5); and, reduced the allocation of overhead hours that could be apportioned to only the taxable functions under the contract (2463); this amounted to a reduction of 21,770.5 hours making taxable contract hours 47,707.5. R.E. at 34. As Ms. Bartlett explained in her testimony, these cuts in the taxable hours resulted in a reduced taxable percentage of 59% of base contract fees to apply against the 3.5% contractor's tax rate. Tr. at 264; R.E. at 34.

The Commission's position is that their approach in determining the taxable liability represented a fair, reasonable, and judicious approach to extend to the taxpayer its full measure of accommodation and to capture no more tax than that which is due. As noted in the statement of the case, when the rate of 3.5% was applied to the base contract fees earned by Eco, the tax, interest and penalty was \$394,972 on the five contracts. This is the amount that Eco paid and subsequently filed this refund action seeking a return of the same.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a *de novo* appeal from chancery court where the lower court clearly erred in its application of law. The court below ignored and failed to consider bedrock principles of statutory construction in determining taxability under Section 27-65-21 for the work that Eco performed. First, the plain language of Section 27-65-21 taxes, on its face, repair and maintenance work that is performed on water systems and sewer systems. This is clearly expressed, and one needs to look no further than the plain language of 27-65-21 to determine statutory intent. Additionally, it was error for the lower court to ignore the directive in 27-65-

21 that the tax applies to water **systems** and sewer **systems**. As such, the lower court committed error in its application of law by accepting Eco's suggestion to break apart the water and sewer systems into bits, pieces, and component parts in direct contradiction to the language in Section 27-65-21.

The lower court likewise erred by failing to consider other settled principles of statutory construction. In considering tax statutes, an exemption is never presumed, and the one claiming the exemption must demonstrate that the right to the exemption is clearly established. *Mississippi State Tax Commission vs. Medical Devices, Inc.*, 624 So.2d 987, 990 (Miss. 1990). Eco is precluded from showing a clearly established exemption in the face of statutory language that specifically states that repair functions on water and sewer systems are taxable. Another rule of construction that the court ignored is that specific language controls over general language; and, the judiciary gives deference to an agency's application of its own rules and statutes so long as the same is a reasonable interpretation. *Mississippi Gaming Comm'n v. Imperial Palace of Mississippi, Inc.*, 751 So. 2d 1025, 1029 (Miss. 1999); *Lenoir v. Madison County*, 641 So. 2d 1124, 1128-30 (Miss. 1994).

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