IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOSEPH BLOUNT, in his official capacity as chairman and commissioner of the Mississippi State Tax Commission

APPELLANT

VS.

ECO RESOURCES, INC.

APPELLEE

NO.: 2006-CC-00673

Appeal from the Chancery Court of Harrison County, Mississippi Second Judicial District

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

LUTHER T. MUNFORD (MSB# C. DELBERT HOSEMANN, JR. (MSB#

R. GREGG MAYER (MSB# PHELPS DUNBAR LLP 111 E. Capitol Street, Ste. 600 Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: (601) 352-2300 Facsimile: (601) 360-9777

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The legislature has said that charges for activities such as repairs to water or sewer systems may be taxed, but "such activities" do not include repairs to property "which retains its identity as personal property." Miss. Code Ann. § 27-65-21(1)(a)(i) (2005).

The Tax Commission makes two equally unsustainable attempts to argue that all repairs to any of the property of a water system may be taxed.

First, it wrongly argues that the phrase "sewer . . . or water system" means the whole system, without distinguishing between the system's real property and its personal property. But that interpretation conflicts with the distinction the statute itself makes, is contrary to the legislative history, and is even contrary to the Tax Commission's prior interpretation of the statute.

Then the Tax Commission wrongly argues that, in any event, a "water system" is entirely real property and none of it is personal property. But that is obviously not what the legislature thought when it amended the statute to distinguish between real and personal property. Nor is the argument consistent with the Tax Commission's interpretative memorandum, which the Tax

Commission endorses in its brief. Ex. 38, RE 104-05 (*See* Appendix). That memorandum says property is personal property if it can be removed without altering or destroying the structure to which it is affixed. The Chancellor did not manifestly err by applying the Tax Commission memorandum's test to the facts in evidence here and concluding that the property ECO repairs is personal property.

ARGUMENT

I. The repair of personal property that is part of a water system is not subject to the contractor's tax.

Interpretation of statutes presents a question of law, which this court reviews de novo. As this Court has held, it will not enforce a ruling of the State Tax Commission that is "repugnant to the plain meaning of a statute." Oxy USA, Inc. v. Mississippi State Tax Commission, 757 So.2d 271, 274 (Miss. 2000); Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Lady Forest Farms, Inc., 701 So.2d 294, 296 (Miss. 1997). This is particularly true where the Commission's interpretation is fraught with inconsistencies. Id. The duty to defer to an agency interpretation "has no material force where the agency interpretation is contrary to the statutory . . . language." Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Moselle Fuel Co., 568 So.2d 720, 723 (Miss. 1990).

Moreover, as this Court has said in interpreting the same statute, "It is familiar learning that doubts in tax statutes should be resolved in favor of the taxpayer." *Stone v. W.G. Nelson Exploration Co.*, 51 So.2d 279, 282 (Miss. 1951).

In this case, the text, the legislative history, and the memoranda and rules of the State Tax Commission all lead to only one conclusion: repairs to property that is part of a water system and maintains its identity as personal property are not subject to the contractor's tax.

A. The text says personal property repairs that are part of "such activities," including water and sewer system repairs, are not taxed.

In material part, § 27-65-21 (2005) provides:

(1)(a)(i). Upon every person engaging or continuing in this state in the business of contracting or performing a contract or engaging in any of the activities, or similar activities, listed below for a price ...there is hereby levied ... a tax equal to three and one-half percent (31/2% of the total contract price or compensation received ... from constructing, building, erecting, repairing ... any building, highway...culvert, sewer, irrigation or water system ... railway, reservoir, dam, power plant, ... water well, any other improvement or structure or any part thereof Such activities shall not include constructing, repairing or adding to property which retains its identity as personal property....

(b) The following shall be excluded from the tax levied by this section:

(i) The contract price or compensation received for ... repairing ... any other improvement or structure which is used for or primarily in connection with a residence or dwelling place for human beings.

Id. (emphasis added). See Appendix.

The statutory language could hardly be plainer. The word "activities" provides the key. The statute refers to "activities . . . listed below." Sewer and

water systems are among the listed "activities." Then the statute says "such activities" shall not include repairing "property which retains its identity as personal property."

To be sure, the Commission can tax the repair of water systems, but not to the extent that repair involves the repair of personal property that is a part of such a system.

The Code defines "repair" as "the restoring of property in some measure to its original condition, which may involve the use of either personal property or labor or both" Miss. Code Ann. § 27-65-11 (2005).³

B. The legislative history shows that personal property repairs were eliminated from all activities taxed by the statute as part of an attempt to lower taxes on contractors.

From 1934 to 1982, the Contractor's Tax statute did not make any reference to personal property repairs. In that year, however, the legislature added to the section, almost at its end, the sentence stating that the tax did not apply to repairs of personal property. 1982 Miss. Laws. Ch. 442 § 1. At the same time, it added the residential properties exception, § 2, and abolished the former statewide privilege tax on those who bid on or perform construction contracts, § 3.

³ The statutory word is "repair," not "maintenance," and, in any event "maintenance" has the same definition as repair. Miss. Code Ann. § 27-65-11. It does *not* mean "the upkeep of property or equipment," which is what maintenance can mean in other contexts. See Webster's NEW COLLEGIATE DICTIONARY 693 (1977). There is no merit to the Tax Commission's attempt to expand the meaning of "repair" by using the phrase "maintenance and repair."

The legislature's placement of the personal property sentence, as well as its language, indicates that personal property repairs are not to be taxed. That the sentence was coupled with the abolition of a privilege tax on contracts demonstrates a legislative intent to cut the tax burden on contractors generally. That purpose is wholly consistent with the way the Chancellor read the statute, and is wholly inconsistent with the way the State Tax Commission reads it.

Furthermore, courts have debated for years what portions of a utility's property should be considered real property for taxation purposes. Generally, a contractor's tax like the one in issue here applies only to repairs to real property. That is because "a real property contractor is considered the ultimate consumer of property for purposes of imposing the sales tax." 85 C.J.S. *Taxation* § 2031 ("Contractors; Public Contracts"). *See e.g. Rudolph v. Potomac Elec. Power Co.*, 24 F.2d 882, 883 (D.C. Ct. App. 1928) (lines located over streets belonging to the U.S. were personal property).

C. The Tax Commission has historically read the statute not to include repairs to personal property.

The chancellor relied in part on a State Tax Commission memo which not only recognizes the personal property limitation on the scope of the contractor's tax, but also defines what the Commission considers to be "personal property." Ex. 38, RE 104-05 (*See* Appendix). *See* 1:116, 121-122, RE 9, 14-15; 2:86-87.

That memo recognizes that water and sewage systems are subject to the contractor's tax, but then goes on to describe the personal property limitation without any indication that it does not apply to personal property used by water or sewer systems. The Commission's present claim that the personal property limitation does not apply to personal property used by water or sewer systems is inconsistent with that memorandum.

D. Rules of construction cannot change the text, the legislative purpose, and the past administrative interpretation of the statute.

Where the meaning of a statute is plain, there is no room for principles of statutory construction. Oxy USA, Inc. v. Mississippi State Tax Commission, 757 So.2d 271, 274 (Miss. 2000). In Oxy USA, Inc., this Court set aside a Commission ruling that had imposed a tax on gas injected back into oil wells because it contradicted the plain language of the relevant statute, it was inconsistent with other law, and the Commission had taken different positions on the question over time.

The Commission's arguments against the plain language of the statue need not be considered but, if considered, should be rejected. Their weakness begins with the Commission's contention that plain language governs while it brief makes no attempt to explain the critical personal property language in the statute. The silence is telling. Brief of Appellant 14-15.

Nor does the exemption for repairing entire utility systems in emergencies help the Commission's case. *Id.* at 16 *citing* Miss. Code Ann. § 27-65-21 (1)(b)(iii) (exemption for price to repair "utility or distribution system" if repair "performed by the entity providing the service at its cost"). It is perfectly consistent to say that, generally, repairs of personal property are not taxed and, in an emergency, repairs to *both* personal and real property, i.e., the entire "utility system," are not taxed.

The only purpose of maxims of construction is to determine the legislative intent. The intent here is clear and, in any event, the maxims do not help the Commission. The distinction between repair of personal and real property is part of the paragraph that defines the tax. It does not supply an exclusion from activities otherwise taxed. So cases concerning exemptions are not even relevant. Moreover, it is not clear which is more specific: repair of buildings or repair of personal property. So the specific versus general argument cannot carry the weight the Commission puts on it in this case. See Tax Commission Brief at 19.

As a result, the mass of citations in the Tax Commission Brief at 14 to 19 count for nothing. None of them interprets the language in issue here. All of them simply state general rules of construction which either do not apply here or, if they apply, support ECO's interpretation of the statute. The legislature "[broke] apart the water and sewer systems" into components, i.e., real and personal property.

Tax Commission Brief at 11. That is not just an ECO "suggestion." *Id.* It is the law.

II. The chancellor did not err in applying the Commission's definition of personal property.

A. In an appeal from the Tax Commission, the chancellor conducts a trial de novo and this Court owes deference to his findings.

The appeal of a Tax Commission ruling "does not contemplate mere appeal on the record as by certiorari but inescapably implies an original action in which the entire merits of the case may be heard that the liability of the taxpayer adjudged" *Stone v. Kerr*, 10 So.2d 845, 848 (Miss. 1942). That, this Court said, was essential to providing an adequate remedy at law that would make injunctive relief against the Tax Commissioner unavailable. To that end, the legislature has provided for a trial *de novo* in the chancery court to determine tax liability.

First, the statute for hearings before the Commission says "Any appeal to chancery court . . . shall include a full evidentiary judicial hearing on the issues presented." Miss. Code Ann. § 27-77-5(6) (2005). Then the appeal statute says the chancellor is to "try the case de novo and conduct a full evidentiary judicial hearing on the issues raised." It provides:

At trial of any action brought under this section, the chancery court shall give deference to the decision and interpretation of law and regulations by the commission as it does with the decisions and interpretation of any administrative agency, but it shall try the case de novo and conduct a full evidentiary judicial hearing on the issues raised. Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, the chancery court shall determine whether the taxpayer has proven, by a preponderance of the evidence ...that he is entitled to any or all of the relief he has requested.

Miss. Code Ann. § 27-77-7 (2005).

Because the trial is de novo, the chancellor has the power to make findings of fact to which this court will defer unless manifest error is shown. *Mississippi State Tax Commission v. ANR Pipeline Co.*, 806 So.2d 1081, 1084 (Miss. 2002) (where appeal statute requires trial de novo in chancery court, review is to determine whether chancellor's findings were "manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or contrary to the weight of the evidence."); 84 C.J.S. Taxation § 773 (where tax appeal tried de novo appellate court "will not interfere with a finding based on conflicting evidence").

B. The chancellor's findings that the equipment on which ECO works is moveable and removable without altering or destroying the structures in which it is placed is not manifestly erroneous, and the Tax Commission does not challenge that factual finding.

As this case comes to this Court, it is to be taken as a given that the equipment on which ECO works is moveable and can be removed without altering or destroying the structures in which it is placed.

In the chancery court, ECO filed pre-trial findings which made it clear that it contended that the property repaired was personal, and not real property. At trial it elicited testimony from the Commission auditor, Ms. Moore, that she did not take that distinction into account when she did her audit. 3:164-165, 172-173, 193, 267.

She believed repairs to anything located on commercial property were subject to the tax. 3:170. Similarly, the Tax Commission made no findings on the personal property question to which a court would owe deference. 3:233 (review board did not discuss distinction).

ECO introduced into evidence photographs of a pump and an electrical box typical of the type found in the Biloxi system. Its witnesses testified that they have the characteristics of personal property, e.g., they can be removed without altering or destroying real property. 2:67-75, 92-93; Exs. 32A, 32B. See also p. 17, *infra.* That is the key difference between personal and real property the Commission has followed in the past. Ex. 38, RE 104-05 (*See* Appendix).

Here, the Chancellor said the equipment on which ECO worked was not permanently attached:

The Court finds that the services taxed by STC as being subject to the contractor's tax were performed on personal property. The evidence, including the testimony of ECO's expert witness, Ralph Ellison, describing the components and makeup of typical water and sewer systems, as well as the Court's inspection of a sewer lift station and a water well site (both a part of the Biloxi system (Exhibit 16)) establish that the components on which ECO performed its services retained their identity as personalty.

The court continued:

The components consist generally of pumps, electrical motors, floats, control panels, chlorination devices. None of these devices are permanently attached to real property. In fact, they are easily removed for repair or replacement without causing any alteration or damage to the structure on which they are mounted. Once removed, they can be used at different locations

RE 1:121-122, RE 14-15. The evidence, testimony, personal inspection by the Chancellor, and exhibits offered at trial, fully supports the chancellor's findings that the equipment could be removed "without causing any alteration or damage to the structure on which they are mounted." 2:67-75, 92-93, 120-122; Exs. 32A, 32B, 41A, 41B. *See* 2:91 ("the pipes in the ground, ... things just don't happen to them").

These findings are correct, and have certainly not been shown to be manifestly erroneous. In fact, the Commission's Brief does not even appear to challenge them.

C. The chancellor did not manifestly err by adopting the Tax Commission's traditional definition of personal property.

The Commission's argument concerning the definition of personal property is, like Tax Commission positions in the past, "fraught with inconsistency." *Mississippi State Tax Commission v. Lady Forest Farms, Inc.*, 701 So.2d 294, 296 (Miss. 1997).

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